THE IMPACT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ON HEALTH: A COUNTRY-LEVEL ANALYSIS



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Science in Health Economics and Health

Care Management

Common Course

FACULTY OF ECONOMICS

Chulalongkorn University

Academic Year 2019

Copyright of Chulalongkorn University



ผลกระทบจากการพัฒนาเศรษฐกิจที่มีผลต่อสุขภาพ: การวิเคราะห์

ระดับประเทศ



Chulalongkorn University

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยา

ศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต

สาขาวิชาเศรษฐศาสตร์สาธารณสุขและการจัดการบริการสุขภาพ ไม่

สังกัดภาควิชา/เทียบเท่า

คณะเศรษฐศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ปีการศึกษา 2562

ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	THE IMPACT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ON
	HEALTH: A COUNTRY-LEVEL ANALYSIS
Ву	Miss Huiying Wang
Field of Study	Health Economics and Health Care Management
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor NOPPHOL WITVORAPONG, Ph.D.

Accepted by the FACULTY OF ECONOMICS, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the FACULTY OF
ECONOMICS
(Associate Professor SITTIDAJ PONGKIJVORASIN, Ph.D.)
THESIS COMMITTEE
Chairman
(Professor SIRIPEN SUPAKANKUNTI, Ph.D.)
Thesis Advisor
(Associate Professor NOPPHOL WITVORAPONG, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Assistant Professor Sasiwimon Warunsiri Paweenawat,
Ph.D.)
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

สุ่ขหยิง หวัง : ผลกระทบจากการพัฒนาเศรษฐกิจที่มีผลค่อสุขภาพ: การวิเคราะห์ ระดับประเทศ . (THE IMPACT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ON HEALTH: A COUNTRY-LEVEL ANALYSIS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : นพพล วิทย์วรพงศ์

การศึกษานี้ประเมินผลกระทบของการพัฒนาทางเศรษฐกิจต่อสุขภาพ โดยใช้ข้อมูลพาเนล ้ของประเทศทั้งสิ้น 217 ประเทศ แบ่งเป็นประเทศที่มีรายใค้สูง 139 ประเทศและประเทศที่มีรายได้ต่ำอีก 78 ประเทศ ในช่วงปี ค.ศ.1995-2018 ตัวแปรตามในการศึกษามีด้วยกันทั้งสิ้น 5 ตัวแปร ได้แก่ อายุ ้ กาดเฉลี่ยเมื่อแรกเกิด อัตราการเสียชีวิตของทารก อัตราการเสียชีวิตของเด็กที่มีอายุต่ำกว่า 5 ปี อัตราการมีชีวิตรอดจนถึงอายุ 65 ของประชากรเพศหญิง และอัตราการมีชีวิตรอดจนถึงอายุ 65 ของ ประชากรเพศชาข การศึกษานี้ใช้วิธีการวิเคราะห์ด้วยสมการถดถอยแบบอิทธิพลตรึงแบบ 2SLS (fixed effects-two stage least squares: FE-2SLS) มีตัวแปรอธิบายที่แทนการพัฒนาทาง เศรษฐกิจทั้งสิ้น 2 ตัวแปร ได้แก่ รายได้ประชาชาติต่อหัว และดัชนีจีนี และพิจารณาตัวแปรระดับมห ภาคอื่นๆ ที่ได้มีการประเมินไว้แล้วว่าเป็นตัวแปรกำหนดระดับสุขภาพของประชากรที่สำคัญใน ้วรรณกรรม ทั้งนี้ รายได้ประชาชาติต่อหัวและดัชนีจีนีนับเป็นตัวแปรภายในของการศึกษา ผล การศึกษา พบว่า ในประเทศทั้งสองกลุ่ม (รายได้สูงและรายได้ต่ำ) รายได้ประชาชาติต่อหัวมีผลที่เป็น บวกและมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติต่อสุขภาพ โดยช่วยเพิ่มทั้งอายุคาคเฉลี่ยและอัตราการรอดชีวิตจนถึงอายุ 65 ที่ระดับร้อยละ 5 ส่วนดัชนีจีนีมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติต่อสุขภาพเฉพาะในประเทศที่มีรายได้ต่ำเท่านั้น ตัวแปรที่สำคัญอื่นๆ รวมถึงการปล่อยก๊าซคาร์บอนใดออกไซค์ และการเติบโตของจำนวนประชากร ก็ มีกวามสำคัญต่อสุขภาพ เช่นเดียวกัน โดยเฉพาะในประเทศที่มีรายได้ต่ำ การศึกษานี้แสดงให้เห็นว่า สุขภาพของประชากรสามารถพัฒนาได้ผ่านการเติบโตทางเศรษฐกิจ และความสำคัญของการพัฒนา ทางเศรษฐกิจต่อสุขภาพนั้นมีระดับที่ไม่เท่ากันในกลุ่มประเทศที่มีรายได้แตกต่างกัน



สาขาวิชา	เศรษฐศาสตร์สาธารณสุขและ	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	การจัดการบริการสุขภาพ	
ปีการศึกษา	2562	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

6284144129 : MAJOR HEALTH ECONOMICS AND HEALTH CARE MANAGEMENT

KEYWORD: Economic Development, Economic Growth, Health

Huiying Wang : THE IMPACT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ON HEALTH: A COUNTRY-LEVEL ANALYSIS. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. NOPPHOL WITVORAPONG, Ph.D.

This study investigates the impact of economic development on health, using a panel of 217 countries (139 high-income and 78 low-income countries for the period 1995-2018). Five dependent variables are included, which are life expectancy at birth, infant mortality, under-5 mortality, survival to age 65 for the female and the male population. The preferred regression method used is fixed effects - two stage least squares modeling (FE-2SLS). The specification includes two measures of economic development, including GDP per capita and the Gini index, as well as other macro-level variables that have been identified as important determinants for population health in the literature. GDP per capita and the Gini index are treated as endogenous variables in the estimation. The results show that, in both country groups, GDP per capita has a positive and statistically significant impact on health, improving life expectancy and survival to age 65 (P <0.05). The Gini coefficient is found to be statistically significant in low-income countries. Other important determinants of population health include CO₂ emissions and population growth, especially in low-income countries. This study shows that population health can be boosted through economic growth and the impact is disproportionately felt across country groups.



Field of Study:	Health Economics and	Student's Signature
	Health Care Management	
Academic Year:	2019	Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to Chulalongkorn University for providing me with great convenience in data acquisition and literature review. Secondly, I would like to send my thanks to Professor Nopphol Witvorapong, Ph.D. Under his careful and patient guidance, I completed my paper in time. And in the process, he not only gave me a lot of valued comments, but also helped me accumulate lots of knowledge and skills. Also, I would like to express my thanks to Professor Siripen Supakankunti, Ph.D. In several thesis communications, also gave me a lot of constructive advice to help me improve my research. Third, I would like to thank professor Sasiwimon Warunsiri Paweenawat, Ph.D., who is very serious-minded and helped me to refine the details of my thesis. Finally, I would like to express my appreciations to my classmates and family for their support in spirit and in life.



Huiying Wang

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

iii
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii
iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES ix
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1.Motivation and Significance1
1.2.Objectives
1.2.1. Primary objective
1.2.2. Secondary objectives
1.3.Possible benefits
Chapter 2 Literature review
2.1.Impact of health on economic development
2.2.Impact of economic development/income on health
Chapter 3 Conceptual Framework
Chapter 4 Methodology
4.1.Data
4.2.Model
4.3.Specifications/ Alternative Models
Chapter 5 Results

5.1 Descriptive Statistics	
5.2. Justification of Fixed-Effects Modeling	
5.3 Regression Results	
5.3.1 Fixed effects (FE) regressions	
5.3.2 FE-2SLS Regressions	
5.3.3 Sub-sample Analyses	27
Chapter 6 Discussion	
APPENDIX	
REFERENCES	41
VITA	



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Summary of existing papers	
Table 2 Choice of health measures in the literature	
Table 3 Choice of explanatory variables in the literature 13	
Table 4 Descriptive statistics 21	
Table 5 Fixed-effects model justification: Life expectancy at birth	

Page

Table 3 Choice of explanatory variables in the literature	13
Table 4 Descriptive statistics	21
Table 5 Fixed-effects model justification: Life expectancy at birth	22
Table 6 Fixed-effects model justification: Infant mortality	22
Table 7 Fixed-effects model justification: Under-5 mortality	22
Table 8 Fixed-effects model justification: Female survival to age 65	23
Table 9 Fixed-effects model justification: Male survival to age 65	23
Table 10 Fixed-effects results, not accounting for potential endogeneity	23
Table 11 FE-2SLS results	26
Table 12 FE-2SLS regression results of high-income countries	30
Table 13 FE-2SLS regression results of low-income countries	32

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1 GDP per capita 1995-2018 (current US\$)	2
Figure 2 Infant Mortality & Life Expectancy 1995-2018	2
Figure 3 Conceptual Framework	17



Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1. Motivation and Significance

In the WHO Charter, when it was founded in 1946, health is defined as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity. This represents a departure from the traditional concept of health, which generally refers to the human body without disease.

Economic development is more difficult to define. The definition of economic development has been contested across disciplines. While economists view development primarily in terms of economic growth, sociologists instead emphasize a broader process of change and modernization. Economic development measures national prosperity and is related directly to economic growth. It does not pertain only to GDP increases but refers instead to a broader concept, which also has qualitative dimensions. More specifically, economic development means economic growth in combination with positive changes in certain areas which determine well-being of the people, including, for example, health and education (Greenwood & Holt, 2010).

At the macro level, health is linked to economic development. Globally, as economies expand, living standards continually improve, leading to an improvement in health. With the rapid economic development of countries in the world, the average life expectancy of the population in the world has increased from 48 years in 1950 to 72 years in 2017. There are significant differences in health levels between countries with different economic levels. Health conditions in low-income economies are much worse than in high-income economies. In 2017, for example, life expectancies in advanced economies such as the United States (78.5), France (82.5), Canada (82.2), Australia (82.5), Japan (84.1) are much higher than developing countries such as China (76.5), Russia (72.1), Brazil (75.5), India (69.2), South Africa (63.5). Based on these facts, it can be seen that differences in economic development have an (supposedly positive) impact on health conditions.

Between 1995 and 2018, the period covered in this study, the world has witnessed both an increase in GDP and in health. According to data from the World Bank, the average per capita GDP in the world was \$11312.44 in 2018, but only \$5408.87 in 1995 (Figure 1). At the same time, health of the population has also improved. Globally, the average infant mortality rate in 2018 was 28.9% per 1000 live births (Figure 2), with an overall steadily decreasing trend, and the world's average life expectancy reached about 72 years in 2017, with an overall rising trend (Figure 2). These data indicate that health of the population seems to rise with economic development.



Figure 1 GDP per capita 1995-2018 (current US\$)

Data Source: The World Development Indicators, World Bank (2020)



Figure 2 Infant Mortality & Life Expectancy 1995-2018

Data Source: The World Development Indicators, World Bank (2020)

There are several mechanisms through which economic development can impact health (Cutler, Deaton, & Lleras-Muney, 2006; Fogel, 1994; Riley, 2001; Sell &

Kunitz, 1986; Amartya Sen, 1990). First, with economic development, people are better able to afford basic necessities for living, including, for example, sufficient food and nutrition, and basic medicine supply. These 'materials' promote living conditions, thus contributing to the improvement of the quality of life and health. Second, economic development is conducive to further health investment, the expansion of health services, and the development of medical and health research, all of which are directly related to the health of population. Finally, economic development indirectly affects population health, through its impact on education. The level of people's education will influence their ability to obtain health care knowledge and to carry out self-care activities, which consequently affect the health condition of the population. The historical decline of mortality (and the increase in life expectancy), which is a widely used measure of population health, has been attributed to factors related to economic and social progress, including the increase in material supply, the improvement of physical infrastructure, increased levels of education, and advances in medical care and medical technologies. If these factors play a crucial part an important role in the improvement of health, then it should be undeniable that the decline in mortality must be associated with economic development.

This study attempts to investigate the impact of economic development on health, using different measures of economic development and health. The use of multiple measures reflects the fact that economic development and health are multi-dimensional concepts.

1.2. Objectives

1.2.1. Primary objective

To investigate the impact of economic development on health.

1.2.2. Secondary objectives **OVERSITY**

To examine the impact of different indicators of economic development on health at the aggregate level.

To compare the relative strength of different indicators of economic development in explaining health at the aggregate level.

To explore differences in the link between economic development and health among high-income and low-income countries.

1.3. Possible benefits

This study analyzes the impact of different indicators of economic development on health. The relationship between economic development and health is unlikely to be spurious if use different statistical models and different economic and health indicators, the results are consistent.

Also, since this study performs a sub-sample analysis, splitting the sample into high-income and low-income countries, the results of the sub-sample analysis may have an implication on how population health may be improved. For example, if the impact of economic development on health is different between the two groups of countries, then interventions to improve health for countries with different income levels would be different.

Chapter 2 Literature review

At the aggregate level, there seems to be a bidirectional causality in the relationship between economic development and health. In other words, not only does economic development impact health, health also impacts economic development (Cutler et al., 2006; Easterlin, 1999; Riley, 2001; Szreter, 1988, 1999; Szreter & Mooney, 1998). The chapter includes both studies that investigate the impact of health on economic development and those that investigate the effect of economic development on health, but focuses on the latter.

2.1. Impact of health on economic development

The literature on the link between health and economic development or economic growth typically focuses on the impact of health on economic development. Health affects living conditions, influences human capital and consequently impacts the nation's productive capacity and capital accumulation (Hu Hongwei, 2011).

There are theoretical studies of the impact of health on economic development. For example, (Grossman, 1972) studies the influence of economic development on the supply of health services from a micro perspective and points out that health is conducive to the formation of human capital, and the impact of health on a country's economic growth is non-negligible. (Woode, Nourry, & Ventelou, 2014) construct an endogenous growth model, using health, as proxied by health care financing, to explain economic growth. It is shown here that joint health investment by the private and the government sectors can maximize economic growth.

Using the extended Solow growth model and panel data, (Gyimah-Brempong & Wilson, 2004) show that there is a positive relationship between health (as a form of human capital) and the level of investment and the growth rate of per capita income. (Barro, 2013) reveals a positive effect on growth from initial human capital in the form of health. Similarly, (Valeyre et al., 2014) shows that health has an important impact particularly on developing countries, as they are dominated by physical labor, and suggests that health inequality hampers economic development. On the contrary, (Rivera IV & Currais, 1999) find that health affects income growth both positively and significantly. However, the possible existence of endogeneity may bias the

observed results. A Hausman test could be performed to confirm that there is a feedback effect between health and income.

Several studies also find that health and education, both of which are different forms of human capital, complement each other and together impact economic growth. Following (Barro, 1996), who was the first person to study the interrelationships between health, education, and material capital, (Van Zon & Muysken, 2005) introduce health indicators into the production function on the supply side, and the utility function on the demand side in order to study the relationship between health investment and economic growth and show that health and education are important to economic growth. Other authors (Blackburn & Cipriani, 2002; Chakraborty, 2004; Ehrlich & Lui, 1991; Kalemli-Ozcan, Ryder, & Weil, 2000) also explored the relationship between health and economic growth through indirect incentives for investment in education, and also found that education and health have powerful complementary effects of economic growth.

There are also studies at the regional and the country (as opposed to cross-country) level. (Glover et al., 2009) point out that an increase in the number and quality of employees in medical and health institutions and an increase in the practice and study in the field of public health can reduce the difference of human capital and reduce the imbalance of economic growth across states in the US. (Kai, 2006) studies the relationship between population health and economic growth in China and draws a conclusion that the health has a significant positive relationship with economic growth. Based on Hunan province in China, (Kun, 2011) finds that the impact of health on economic growth is significant and that the contribution of education to economic growth is overestimated. Finally, (Xuewen, 2014) finds that there is a long-term equilibrium relationship and two-way interaction mechanism between health and economic growth in China.

หาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

2.2. Impact of economic development/income on health

Studies directly on the topic of the impact of economic development on health at the country level are sparse. The literature investigates the relationship between health and income or well-being at the country as well as the household level.

There are studies that consider the correlation between health and economic development at the aggregate level. (Summers & Pritchett, 1996), for example, discuss the fact that health indicators in the poorest countries are usually the worst, and suggest that GDP growth has a direct impact on improving health. (Babones & medicine, 2008) argues that population health indicators, e.g. average life expectancy and infant mortality are in fact aggregates of individual-level variables and, if there is a positive relationship between health and income at the individual level, that relationship should carry over to the aggregate level, although, since income inequality in most countries is relatively stable over time, the causality at the

aggregate level is difficult to test. (Karlsson, Nilsson, Lyttkens, Leeson, & medicine, 2010) show that although the relationship between income and health overall is positive, there are important differences in the relationship between high-income countries and middle/low-income countries. For example, the form of the relationship between absolute income and health is different. In these two groups of countries, the meaning of family size is different. (Drabo, 2011) found that environmental quality is an important factor influencing population health by income inequality. Finally, (Dorling, Mitchell, & Pearce, 2007) show that there is a strong correlation between income inequality and population health and the relationship is especially strong among younger adults.

There are also studies that explore the impact of economic development on health at the household/individual level. (Frijters, Haisken-DeNew, & Shields, 2005) investigate whether income changes have a causal effect on health satisfaction among East and West Germans. They find a significant positive effect. (Granados & Ionides, 2008) exploit changes in cohort incomes among the elderly to uncover causal effects of permanent income shocks on health and find that income have little effects on a health measures. (Aida et al., 2011) conduct a multivariate meta-regression analysis using nine multilevel cohort studies and find that income inequality impacts self-rated health. Overall, most studies at the household/individual level find that there is a significant and positive relationship between income and health status (Case, Lubotsky, & Paxson, 2002; Deaton, 2002; Fritzell, Nermo, & Lundberg, 2004). However, there are exceptions. For example, (Larrimore, 2011) shows that the relationship remains inconclusive.

The above literature review shows that there is limited research at the macro level on the impact of economic development on health. There are also few articles on the application of panel data. As a result, the use of panel data in this study may be considered a contribution. Also, this study explores a wider range of aggregate-level health measures, including life expectancy, infant mortality, under-5 mortality, female survival to age 65 and male survival to age 65 – contrary to the existing literature which focuses mainly on life expectancy. The choice of other explanatory variables is based on the aggregate-level version of specifications as well as the existing research at the household level, and includes additionally other variables related to economic development, such as education, health-related supply and so on. Summary of the papers discussed in this chapter as well as their specifications are shown in Tables 1-3. Table 2 shows health measures used in these literature. Table 3 shows the specifications in the literature.

Author	Data	Model	Outcome	Main findings
Paper 1:	1996–97 in Swedish,	Logistic	Self-rated	1>. Indicate that a very clear relationship exists between
(Fritzell et al.,	individuals who	Regression,	health	income and health.
2004)	aged between 25 and	multivariate	(Good/Poor)	2>. Controlling age is very important. Once age is
	64. (n=7,201)	models		standardized, the link between income and health will
	AL	าร		become stronger
	.01	101		3>.Individual income and health status of men and women
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		have roughly similar link.
Paper 2:	Panel Study of	DDD Models	Self-reported	1>. By providing evidence for the protective health effects
(Lenhart,	Income Dynamics in	3 2 2 3 2 3	health status	of increased sources of external income on vulnerable
2019)	US, 1990-2003,	12		groups in the population, the findings of this study provide
		้า		a new basis for the literature on the relationship between
		2		income and health.
	13	ลัย		2>.The study has shown that the expansion of EITC
		:]		increases the likelihood of affected household heads being
				excellent or very good health.
Paper 3:	Several	Synthetic Cohort	Self-reported	1>.It was found that this income innovation had little
(Adda,	cross-sectional	Methodology	health	effect on a wide range of health measures, but it did lead
Banks, & Von	serveys (FES, GHS,			to an increase in mortality and health behavior risks.
Gaudecker,	HSE), 1978-2003,			
2009)	148,517 individuals			
Paper 4:	Sweden in the 19th	Linear regression,	Mortality	2>. Economic growth is positively related to health
(Granados &	and 20th centuries	spectral analysis,	rates and life	progress in Sweden throughout the 19th century.

Table 1 Summary of existing papers

~

Author	Data	Model	Outcome	Main findings
Ionides,		cross-correlation,	expectancy	3>.The relationship became weaker over time, and it was
2008)		and lag		completely reversed in the second half of the 20th century,
		regression		when economic growth had a negative impact on health
		models.		advancement.
Paper 5:	Seven panels of	Standard ordered	Self-reported	1>. There is only limited support for the theory that the
(Larrimore,	SIPP data from	probit regression	health (poor,	relationship between income and morbidity stems from
2011)	1992-2005, (omitted	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	fair, good,	changes in income.
	1995)	าร	very good,	2>. No evidence was found that increasing income can
	.01		excellent)	significantly improve self-reported health.
		15		3>. Although increases in income seem to reduce the
		ន្តរ រ រ		prevalence of hearing limitations when using corrective
		х 1 И		measures, these increases did not have a significant impact
				on most of the other dysfunctions considered here.
Paper 6:	German	Fixed-effects;	Health	1> Find evidence that changes in income have a
(Frijters et al.,	Socio-Economic	ordinal logit	satisfaction	significantly positive impact on health satisfaction, but
2005)	Panel	models	(scale 0-10)	this quantitative impact is small. This is the case in
	(GSOEP),1984-2002	:]		terms of current income and a measure of "permanent"
	, 46,953 person-year			income.
	observations on			
	6198 East Germans,			
	176,770 person-year			
	observations on			
	20,617 West			

1> There is an unambiguous link between income

Life

OLS ANOVA

Cross-sectional

Paper 7:

Germans.

 ∞

Author	Data	Model	Outcome	Main findings
(Babones &	analyses, in 1970	Models	expectancy,	inequality and population health at the country level.
medicine,	and 1995		infant	2>. The so-called "income illusion" hypothesis is that the
2008)			mortality,	correlation between inequality and health is driven by the
			murder rate	inequality-income-health communication mechanism.
Paper 8:	Cross-sectional	Multivariate	Mortality,	1>. Compared with inequality in smaller regions, income
(Aida et al.,	studies, Multilevel	meta-regression	poor	inequality at the country level may have a greater impact
2011)	data (at least two	models	SRH(self-rate	on the adverse contextual for health, which may be
	levels including one		d health)	achieved by best reflecting the social stratification in the
	or more regional	101		society.
	variable(s));			
Paper 9:	Individuals aged	Ordered probit	Self-assessed	1>.In the high-income sample, there is strong evidence
(Karlsson et	40-79 in 21	models	general health	that the average income of peers is negatively correlated
al., 2010)	countries in 2006, a 🧲	าวิ	(1~5), ADLs,	with health.
	total of 21233	n	healthy life	2>. In middle/low-income countries, the negative
	respondents	1 1 1 1	expectancy,	correlation with health is average regional income.
		ลัย	life	3>. It has evidence that there is a negative correlation
		J	expectancy	between income inequality and individual health in
				high-income countries.
Paper 10:	1970-2000,	OLS and 2SLS	Log of	1>.Environmental degradation can be seen as a channel
(Drabo, 2011)	subdivided into 6		under-five	through which income inequality affects population
	periods of 5 years,		survival rate	health.
	90 countries			2>. Income inequality is an important predictor of
				physical environmental quality in democratic countries,
				but the signs of impact depend on the relative income
				elasticity of the median voter's preference for

<u>г</u>

Author	Data	Model	Outcome	Main findings
				environmental care.
				3>. Through an econometric analysis, income inequality
				has a negative impact on environmental quality, while
				environmental degradation worsens population health.
Paper 11:	126 countries, in	Linear regression	Mortality	1>. Income inequality seems to have an impact
(Dorling et	2002	1		worldwide, especially for young people.
al., 2007)		20		2>. Social inequality seems to have a universal negative
	AL			effect on health.
	.01	1		3>. Humans are social animals with not well physiological
	rGI	家 151		structures and cannot survive in uncooperative
		ន្តរ ល		environments-especially at the peak of life.
Paper 12:	A panel of	Three-stage least	Life	1>.It shows in a healthy form the significant positive
(Barro, 2013)	roughly100	squares	expectancy at	impact of initial human capital on growth.
	countries from1960	้า	birth	2>. The link between overall health status and subsequent
	to 1990.		e el ll	economic growth seems to be substantial.
Paper 13:	cross-country time	OLS;	Health	1>. Health affects income growth both positively and
(Rivera IV &	series data	Instrumental	expenditure	significantly.
Currais,		variables		2>. The relationship between income growth and health
1999)		estimation		levels works in both directions.
Paper 14:	An unbalanced panel	Fixed effects	Life	1>. Life expectancy has positive and statistically
(Sharma,	of 17 advanced	model; panel	expectancy	significant impact on income as well its growth.
2018)	economies, 1870-	GMM		2>. There is very strong link between life expectancy and
	2013			other population health indicators
Paper 15:	62 observations;	OLS; 2SLS	Adult Male	1>. Health does have a positive and significant impact on
(Finlay, 2007)	1960-2000		Mortality	economic growth.

Author	Data	Model	Outcome	Main findings
				2>. In terms of time, education costs are high, but the
				rewards are higher.
Paper 16:	annual data, the	DOLS estimator;	Health	1>.Although consistent with theory, health, investment,
(Narayan,	period 1974–2007		expenditure	exports, EDRD and R&D has a statistically significant and
Narayan, &				positive impact on per capita income, while imports have
Mishra, 2010)		1		a statistically significant negative impact on per capita
		N N		income, while education has a statistically insignificant
	.A1	1		impact on per capita income for group of 5 countries.
Paper 17:	92 countries at	Random effects	Adult	1>. The results show that ASR has a positive impact on
(Bhargava,	5-year intervals	models	survival rate	the GDP growth rate of low-income countries.
Jamison, Lau,	using the PWT GDP	察 ณ์เ		
& Murray,	series. (1965-1990)	ж 1 И		
2001)	0			
		2 2 2 3		
		าส		

Adult survival	~
Health expenditure	~ ~ ~
ADLs	7
Health satisfaction	7
Under-five survival	
Self-rated health	
Mortality	Z Z Z Z
Murder	จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University
Infant mortality	~
Life expectancy	
Paper	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 2 Choice of health measures in the literature

Table 3 Choice of explanatory variables in the literature

								Pa	per							
variables	I	7	ω	4	S	9	٢	×	6	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
Employment status	\mathbf{F}			ุจ CH												
Open						Q		2	-				7			7
Exports					1					(BI (II.)					7	
Imports					-	Ð									7	
Tropics						29			1					7		7
Malaria prevalence						150				9				\mathbf{i}		
Rule-of-law index						22		K	4	Thursday	7					
Terms-of-trade					_						7					
Democracy index						_					7					
Social class	7					10				~						
Adult male					/	}								1		
mortality														~		
Adult survival rate																7
Life expectancy											\mathbf{i}		7			
Fertility rate											\mathbf{i}			\mathbf{i}		7
Age	\mathbf{i}	\geq							\mathbf{i}							
Education	\mathbf{i}		\geq								\mathbf{i}	\mathbf{i}	\mathbf{i}	\mathbf{i}		
Population density	\mathbf{i}													\mathbf{i}		
Individual earnings	\mathbf{i}			7		7			\mathbf{i}	\mathbf{i}						







Chapter 3 Conceptual Framework

The main objective of this study is to analyze the impact of economic development on health. In this study, aggregate-level/ population-level health indicators represent the outcomes of interest and they include 5 variables: life expectancy, infant mortality, under-5 mortality, female survival to age 65 and male survival to age 65. Economic development, albeit multi-dimensional, is operationalized as the combination of economic growth and inequality and it is measured by GDP per capita and Gini index. The other control variables (which have been identified in the earlier chapter as affecting population health) include population growth, population density, ratio of females, number of hospital beds, number of nurses and midwives, CO_2 emissions, ratio of school enrollment and government consumption (similar to government spending).

This study identifies four different models through which health is affected by economic development. The models, i.e. regression specifications, are shown in the diagram below. GDP per capita and Gini index are the explanatory variables in Model 1. Model 2 includes additionally population characteristics, including population growth, population density and percentage of female population. Model 3 includes additionally health-related supply, namely the number of hospital beds and that of nurses and midwives. Finally, Model 4 is the full model and includes all explanatory variables: which are GDP per capita, Gini index, population growth, population density, percentage of female population, hospital beds, nurses and midwives, CO₂ emissions, school enrollment and general government final consumption.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Figure 3 Conceptual Framework



Chapter 4 Methodology

4.1. Data

The data for this study comes from the World Development Indicators database maintained by the World Bank. The final sample includes panel data from 217 countries for the period of 1995 and 2018. A comparative analysis between high-income and low-income countries is also conducted. Here, countries classified as high-income and upper-middle income countries by the World Bank in 2020 are classified as high-income countries, while those classified as low-income and low-income and low-income are treated as low-income countries.

4.2. Model

Much of the research on the impact of income or inequality on health focuses on a certain region or country, using cross-sectional or time series data. Panel data used in this study can provide a richer understanding of the relationship between economic development and health, increase the degree of freedom of the model and the validity of parameter estimation.

The regression method used in this study is fixed-effects modeling.

$$H_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 E_{it} + \beta_2 P_{it} + \beta_3 M_{it} + \beta_4 X_{it} + \mu_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$

Here, H represents health. E represents economic factors, include GDP per capita and Gini index. P represents demographic factors, include population growth, population density and ratio of females. M represents medical factors, include number of hospital beds, number of nurses and midwives. X represents other variables, such as CO₂ emissions, ratio of school enrollment and government consumption.

Economic development may be endogenous. Bloom et al.(2004) found that health has a significant positive feedback effect on economic development, that is, health also contributes to economic growth. In addition, studies have shown that economic growth not only has a unilateral impact on national health, but also affects economic growth by affecting human capital in turn, and there is a feedback mechanism between the two (Liang Run et al., 2015). So in this study, an instrumental variables two-stage-least-squares (2SLS) approach is used to tackle endogeneity of economic development.

Three tests are conducted.

1) Test whether panel data models are appropriate. The Breusch and Pagan LM test for random effects is used.

2) Test whether fixed-effects or random-effects modeling is more appropriate. The Hausman test is used.

3) Test whether the economic development indicators are endogenous. The Hausman test is used.

4.3. Specifications/ Alternative Models

There are five dependent variables: life expectancy at birth, infant mortality, under-5 mortality and survival to age 65 for the female and the male population. These are commonly used heath indicators in many existing studies. The main independent variables representing economic development are GDP per capita (which is an indicator of economic growth) and the Gini Index (which is an indicator of economic inequality). GDP can have a direct impact on health, people can increase their investment in health to improve health; GDP can also have an indirect impact on health by improving diet, increasing nutrition, and improving the quality of life. Overall, GDP is an important indicator of a country's economic situation and is largely linked to health. The Gini index can reflect the difference of income distribution in different countries, capturing the extent of income inequality. Studies have shown that severe income inequality may have a negative impact on population health (Cokley et al., 2006), and this negative effect is mainly manifested in the increased risk of chronic diseases (cardiovascular disease, depression, etc.) among residents in poorer regions (Spencer & development, 2004; Van Doorslaer, Masseria, & Koolman, 2006).

The other explanatory variables are based on the literature review. They include population growth, population density percentage of female, the number of hospital beds and nurses and midwives (per 1000 people), CO₂ emissions, school enrollment (primary) and general government final consumption. (General government final consumption expenditure includes all government current expenditures for purchases of goods and services, including compensation of employees. It also includes most expenditures on national defense and security, but excludes government military expenditures that are part of government capital formation.)

Population growth, population density and the ratio of the female population represent demographic factors. Traditionally, higher population growth is found mainly in countries with lower levels of economic development and it has been shown to lead to shortage of resources and food as well as environmental degradation, all of which may adversely affect health. In addition, environmental pollution caused by high-density population and poor natural conditions affect health of the population. (Spears) (2014) conducts a study on the interactions between sanitation and population density and finds that child health is affected by open defecation externalities in areas where people live more closely together.

Sex ratio is controlled for as it may be important for health. For example. a disproportionately low ratio of males makes it difficult for the male population to marry, leading to a high rate of lifelong non-married men and women and a difficult situation for single elderly people. Unbalanced gender ratio may also lead to a widening gender gap in marriage and an outflow of women from economically disadvantaged areas. Furthermore, gender disorders are also detrimental to mental health (Chunyan, 2013; Renbing, 2002).

Medical factors have a direct relationship with health. They are represented by the number of hospital beds and the number of nurses and midwives (per 1000 people). School enrollment measures the average education level, and as the population becomes more educated, health-related knowledge can be better acquired, leading to changes in health behavior and an improvement in health. For example, an increase in the number of years of schooling for a mother can effectively reduce infant mortality (Jürges, Reinhold, & Salm, 2011). Furthermore, this study chooses to include CO₂ emissions to capture the impact of the environment on health. It is well known that environmental problems impact health directly. Full and effective use of health resources to meet increasing health needs of the population in order to improve the health of the residents should be of concern to the government. A large part of the expenditure on health expenditure is borne by the government, so government consumption can affect health.

Chapter 5 Results

5.1 Descriptive Statistics

Table 4 presents descriptive statistics for the variables that are analyzed in the study. All the variables are averaged over 20 years. In the growth literature, it is a general practice to present averaged data to capture longer effects of different variables (Caselli, Esquivel, & Lefort, 1996; Islam, 1995; Levine, Loayza, & Beck, 2000). The existence of panel data in this study allows us to process a long series of data, which is expected to provide more reliable evidence for the long-term relationship between health and economic development.

Variable		Expected sign	Obs	Mean	Std.Dev.
Life expectancy at birth	years (total)		4795	69.20606	9.501416
Infant mortality	per 1000 live births (total)		4632	31.77951	29.5006
Under-5 mortality	per 1000 live births		4632	45.02029	48.18382
Female survival to 65	% of cohort		4656	75.63688	15.49508
Male survival to 65	% of cohort		4656	66.22527	15.6455
Log of GDP per capita	current US\$	+	4834	8.342627	1.626156
Gini index	World Bank estimates		1443	38.29279	9.017977
Population growth	annal %		5172	1.424623	1.526062
Population density	people per sq.km of land area	+	5135	396.4232	1836.947
Ratio of female			4649	50.06667	2.835962
Hospital beds	per 1000 people	+	2016	4.080877	2.884775
Nurse and midwives A	per 1000 people	+	1636	4.376017	4.053224
Log of CO ₂ emissions SU	metric tons per capita	·	4020	0.621081	1.644607
School enrollment	primary (% gross)	+	3761	101.8678	15.54572
Log of general government final consumption	current US\$	+	4001	22.19265	2.259957

Table 4 Descriptive statistics

5.2. Justification of Fixed-Effects Modeling

Breusch and Pagan Lagrangian Multiplier test results show that the null hypothesis of heteroskedasticity is rejected (p<0.01) and heteroskedasticity assumed. And the F-test also show that it's statistically significant (p<0.01). So fixed-effects model is better than pooled OLS. And last, we can see from the test results that almost all the Hausman test results are statistically significant (p<0.01). It means that fixed effect model is better than random effect model. So this study uses fixed effect model to analyze the preliminary results.

Table 5 Fixed-effects model justification: Life expectancy at birth

1	2	3	4
2579.69***	2395.10***	266.14***	308.50***
60.22***	85.09***	27.69***	50.07***
66.55***	62.43***	61.65***	70.82***
1441	1401	420	389
	1 2579.69*** 60.22*** 66.55*** 1441	1 2 2579.69*** 2395.10*** 60.22*** 85.09*** 66.55*** 62.43*** 1441 1401	1 2 3 2579.69*** 2395.10*** 266.14*** 60.22*** 85.09*** 27.69*** 66.55*** 62.43*** 61.65*** 1441 1401 420

Notes: ***1% levels of significance; **5% levels of significance; *10% levels of significance.

Table 6 Fixed-effects model justification: Infant mortality

Model		1	2	3	4
Breusch and Pag	an Lagrangian				
Multiplier test	1011	2638.00***	1600.47***	187.16***	263.20***
Hausman test		24.95***	76.03***	6.52	11.61
F-test for fixed	effects	48.17***	39.15***	68.29***	80.40***
Number of observ	rvations	1430	1401	420	389

Notes: ***1% levels of significance; **5% levels of significance; *10% levels of significance.

Table 7 Fixed-effects model justification: Under-5 mortality

Model	1	2	3	4
Breusch and Pagan Lagrangian				
Multiplier test	2168.48***	1353.25***	132.65***	190.11***
Hausman test	26.28***	66.27***	-16.21	33.86***
F-test for fixed effects	42.88***	34.51***	83.20***	90.91***
Number of observations	1430	1401	420	389

3			U	
Model	1	2	3	4
Breusch and Pagan Lagrangian				
Multiplier test	2218.94***	1854.59***	140.40***	193.47***
Hausman test	99.38***	166.13***	26.26***	18.86**
F-test for fixed effects	83.70***	74.66***	155.22***	145.98***
Number of observations	1429	1401	420	389

Table 8 Fixed-effects model justification: Female survival to age 65

Table 9 Fixed-effects model justification: Male survival to age 65

Model	1/22	2	3	4
Breusch and Pagan Lagrangian	Const)]		
Multiplier test	4848.02***	3093.81***	291.52***	261.02
Hausman test	35.88***	36.77***	-6.69	36.17***
F-test for fixed effects	87.87***	68.09***	54.09***	56.69***
Number of observations	1429	1401	420	389

Notes: ***1% levels of significance; **5% levels of significance; *10% levels of significance.

5.3 Regression Results

5.3.1 Fixed effects (FE) regressions

This study identifies four different models through which health is affected by economic development. The models, i.e. regression specifications, are shown in the diagram below. GDP per capita and Gini index are the explanatory variables in Model 1. Model 2 includes additionally population characteristics, including population growth, population density and percentage of female population. Model 3 includes additionally health-related supply, namely the number of hospital beds and that of nurses and midwives. Finally, Model 4 is the full model and includes all explanatory variables: which are GDP per capita, Gini index, population growth, population density, percentage of female population, hospital beds, nurses and midwives, CO_2 emissions, school enrollment and general government final consumption. Tables A.1 ~ A.4 show the FE results of each of the 5 dependent variables. (Appendix)

Table 10 Fixed-effects results, not accounting for potential endogeneity

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Panel A: Life expectancy a	t			
birth				

Log of GDP per capita	3.300***	3.121***	2.354***	2.712***
	(0.226)	(0.218)	(0.183)	(0.665)
Gini index	-0.053*	-0.049	-0.042	-0.039
	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.026)	(0.025)
Panel B: Infant mortality				
Log of GDP per capita	-10.418***	-9.752***	-7.071***	-2.352
	(0.937)	(0.956)	(0.957)	(1.728)
Gini index	0.252*	0.231*	0.111	0.015
	(0.143)	(0.139)	(0.133)	(0.103)
Panel C: Under-5 mortality	7			
Log of GDP per capita	-14.929***	-13.732***	-9.004***	-2.437
	(1.609)	(1.595)	(1.247)	(2.270)
Gini index	0.376	0.338	0.095	-0.025
	(0.259)	(0.256)	(0.168)	(0.134)
Panel D: Female survival				
to age 65	///////////////////////////////////////			
Log of GDP per capita	4.503***	4.169***	2.869***	2.394***
	(0.345)	(0.332)	(0.283)	(0.888)
Gini index	-0.079	-0.062	-0.104**	-0.091*
	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.044)	(0.047)
Panel E: Male survival to	<u>Angerer</u>			
age 65	- min vie	e e		
Log of GDP per capita	5.429***	5.204***	4.157***	5.767***
_	(0.407)	(0.420)	(0.379)	(1.512)
Gini index	-0.088*	-0.084*	-0.185***	-0.191**
C	(0.047)	(0.048)	(0.067)	(0.077)
Demographic Factors	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Medical Factors	No	No	Yes	Yes
Other controls	No	No	No	Yes

The results demonstrate that in general log of GDP per capita enter the regression positively and are statistically significant (p<0.01), except for Model 4 for infant mortality and under-5 mortality. The effects of Gini index on different health indicators are less consistent. It is statistically significant (p<0.1) when life expectancy is the dependent variable only in Model 1. When infant mortality is the dependent variable, Gini index is significant (p<0.1) in Models 1 and 2. However, it is statistically insignificant for under-5 mortality but statistically significant for male survival to age 65. With regard to female survival to age 65, it is significant only in Models 3 and 4.

This study shows different specifications for health regressions (Models 1-4). It should be noted that this study considers Model 4 to be the preferred choice, not only because it generally has higher R2 values, but also because the other models may have the problem of omitted variable bias, leaving out theoretically important variables.

Impacts of the other control variables are shown in the appendix. Population growth has a negative impact on life expectancy (p < 0.01) and a positive impact on infant mortality (p<0.1) and under-5 mortality (p<0.1). This is consistent with the previous literature. However, the increasing ratio of the female population decreases infant mortality (p < 0.05) and under-5 mortality (p < 0.05). This may be because women spend more time with their babies, which can reduce infant mortality to some extent, and educated women can change unhealthy behaviors and promote infant and young child health. Similarly, school enrollment (p < 0.05) decreases under-5 mortality. Also it can be observed that CO₂ emissions have significant negative effects on life expectancy (p<0.01), infant mortality (p<0.01) and male survival to age 65 (p<0.01). However, the impact of CO₂ emissions on mortality and under-5 mortality is different from the expected result, possibly because of the low CO₂ emissions of underdeveloped economies and the large differences with those in developed countries. In 2006, for example, Chinese emissions were 4.74 tons, compared with 19.37 and 9.78 tons in the United States and Japan (China Climate Change Information Network). Hospital beds was negatively correlated with life expectancy. This result seems to contradict the traditional view that there is a positive correlation between health resources and health. The number of nurses and midwives (p<0.01) is negatively correlated with under-5 mortality. General government final consumption has a positive effect on health which is consistent with expected sign. Government can improve health by increasing investment in health.

5.3.2 FE-2SLS Regressions

The results above in general demonstrate a significant impact of economic development on health. However, endogeneity may exist due to potential reverse causality between economic development and health. Therefore, this study uses FE and 2SLS to regress the full model, respectively. And then uses Hausman test to test whether the endogenous problem exists. The results show that the null hypothesis should be rejected, that is, there is an endogenous problem.

To address the endogeneity problem, Model 4 is estimated using the fixed-effects two-stage-least-squares (FE-2SLS) method, where log of GDP per capita and Gini index are considered endogenous. On the use of instrumental variables, Sharma (2018) and Granados & Ionides (2008) both take lag variables as instrumental variables. So

										07
in this study, the instrumental per capita (p<0.01) and two- capita and the current-year C represent reasonably good IV	variables (/ear lagged fini index, p.	IVs) are 2- Gini index providing e	year lagge t (p<0.01) vidence fc	d GDP per c have provec or the persisi	apita (in lo l to be pos tence of G	og terms) ar itively corre DP per cap	ıd Gini ind elated with ita and Gin	ex. Two-ye the curren ii index an	ear lagged t-year log d the fact	log GDP GDP per that they
The estimation results an capita is regarded as an exc under-5mortality. However, v	e shown in genous fact /hen log GI	Table 11. J tor, its effo DP per capi	It can be s ect on mo ta is prope	een that the st of the he rrly endogen	impact of salth outco ized, it nov	log GDP pe mes is sigr <i>w</i> has a posi	r capita is nificant, ex tive and st	persistent. cept for in atistically s	When log nfant mort significant	GDP per ality and effect on
all health variables, suggestin analysis, is significant for sur The coefficients of the o	g that endo vival to age ther variable	geneity bia 65, is insig es also chai	s exists in gnificant th nge. For li	the simple H rroughout in fe expectanc	^T E regressi the FE-2S v and fema	ons. On the LS analysis ale survival	other hand to age 65, <u>s</u>	, Gini inde zovernmen	x, which, t final con	in the FE sumption
becomes significant in the FI	3-2SLS anal	lysis. The 1	aumber of	hospital bed	is and the 1	number of r	urses and T	midwives ł	oecome sta variables	atistically have the
expected signs but their stat	s ut survive istical signi different	ficance is	o, autoug inconsiste	nt, suggestin	are not as ig that me	chanisms th	irough wh	ich the exj	variautes planatory	influence
Toble 11 FE 2SI S results	IVER	ายาล์								
Variables	Life exp	ectancy	Infant r	nortality	Under-5	mortality	Female sur	vival to 65	Male surv.	ival to 65
	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS
Log of GDP per capita	2.712***	1.915^{***}	-2.352	-3.189***	-2.437	-3.706***	2.394***	2.166***	5.767***	4.336***
	(0.665)	(0.304)	(1.728)	(0.676)	(2.270)	(0.799)	(0.888)	(0.319)	(1.512)	(0.679)
Gini index	-0.039	-0.040	0.015	0.103	-0.025	0.111	-0.091*	-0.058	-0.191**	-0.096
	(0.025)	(0.031)	(0.103)	(0.112)	(0.134)	(0.140)	(0.047)	(0.040)	(0.077)	(0.074)
Population growth	-0.316***	-0.246***	0.606^{*}	0.597**	0.823*	0.814^{**}	-0.042	0.042	-0.188	0.105
	(0.102)	(0.079)	(0.355)	(0.265)	(0.459)	(0.348)	(0.147)	(0.120)	(0.220)	(0.208)

Population density	0.011	0.012	-0.018	-0.035	-0.031	-0.054	0.0001	0.001	-0.019	-0.019
	(0.002)	(0.008)	(0.031)	(0.030)	(0.044)	(0.044)	(0.010)	(600.0)	(0.016)	(0.017)
Ratio of Female	0.024	-0.053	-2.740**	-1.969**	-3.829**	-2.658**	0.605	0.516	-1.040	-0.303
	(0.454)	(0.447)	(1.115)	(0.816)	(1.530)	(1.078)	(0.523)	(0.390)	(0.371)	(0.814)
Hospital beds	-0.187*	-0.314***	-0.216	-0.230	-0.322	-0.309	-0.107	-0.238**	-0.382	-0.855***
	(0.111)	(0.094)	(0.280)	(0.280)	(0.368)	(0.371)	(0.123)	(0.103)	(0.292)	(0.255)
Nurses and midwives	0.031	-0.016	-0.052	0.027	-0.049	0.032	0.019	-0.041**	0.021	-0.100***
	(0.023)	(0.024)	(0.035)	(0.033)	(0.043)	(0.040)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.037)	(0.036)
Log of CO ₂ emissions	-2.289***	-1.248***	-4.753***	-4.376***	-6.266***	-5.510***	-0.280	0.143	-3.959***	-1.976**
	(0.448)	(0.417)	(1.285)	(1.267)	(1.712)	(1.588)	(0.608)	(0.510)	(1.017)	(0.863)
School enrollment	-00.0	-0.020	-0.031	-0.014	-0.058	-0.020	0.014	0.001	0.004	0.010
	(0.013)	(0.014)	(0.053)	(0.049)	(0.073)	(0.064)	(0.020)	(0.017)	(0.032)	(0.029)
Log of government consumption	0.384	0.737**	-3.711**	-2.414***	-5.247**	-3.198***	0.653	0.700^{**}	-0.290	0.644
	(0.620)	(0.280)	(1.710)	(0.715)	(2.279)	(0.872)	(0.783)	(0.297)	(1.355)	(0.515)
Constant	45.198**	48.486**	274.586***	208.372***	378.440***	274.189***	20.336	26.121	97.679**	46.680
	(24.026)	(23.568)	(71.133)	(44.552)	(100.220)	(60.597)	(30.153)	(20.691)	(47.625)	(42.911)
Observations	389	353	389	353	389	353	389	353	389	353
R2	0.5347	0.5133	0.5167	0.5294	0.4491	0.4428	0.5649	0.5553	0.3550	0.3485
Notes: ***1% levels of signifi	cance; **5	% levels o	f significan	ice; *10% le	vels of sign	ificance.				

5.3.3 Sub-sample Analyses

The preferred FE-2SLS is replicated in sub-samples of rich and poor countries, which are separated using the World Bank's country classification in the last year of the data.

1) High-income countries

The estimation results are shown in Table 12. For high-income countries, it can be seen that the impact of log GDP per capita is persistent. GDP per capita, as endogenous and exogenous variables, has a positive and statistically significant effect on all health variables. When Gini index is regarded as an exogenous factor, its effect on female survival to age 65 is significant. However, when Gini index is endogenized, it has no relationship with health, suggesting that endogeneity bias exists in the simple FE regressions.

The coefficients of the other variables also change. Population growth becomes statistically insignificant on survival to age 65 for female and male population in the FE-2SLS analysis. Population growth leads to an increase in the labor force and human capital, especially health-related human capital, which promotes health. The results also show that an increase in the female population will decrease infant mortality (p<0.1) and under-5 mortality (p<0.05). For life expectancy, infant mortality and under-5 mortality, government final consumption becomes significant in the FE-2SLS analysis. The number of hospital beds and the number of nurses and midwives become statistically significant for the regressions of life expectancy and survival to age 65, although the signs are not as expected.

2) Low-income countries

Table 13 shows regression results for low-income countries. GDP per capita has a positive and statistically significant impact on life expectancy and male survival to age 65. When both log GDP and Gini index are regarded as endogenous factors, their effects on health are different with as exogenous factors, suggesting that endogeneity bias exists in the simple FE regressions. Gini index is statistically significant for infant mortality, under-5 mortality and female survival to age 65.

Regarding the other variables, the results also change. Population growth becomes statistically significant only for survival to age 65 for the female and the male population in the FE-2SLS analysis. The ratio of the female population becomes statistically significant for all of health outcomes. The number of nurses and midwives become statistically insignificant for all dependent variables. Government final consumption becomes significant on life expectancy and male survival to age 65 but log CO2 emissions become statistically insignificant in the FE-2SLS analysis. The sign of the number of hospital beds also is not as expected.

By comparing high-income countries with low-income countries, it can be seen that the effect of GDP per capita on the health of high-income countries is more obvious; it is statistically significant in all health outcomes. However, Gini index has a great influence on health in low-income countries, consistent with the fact that income (and, correspondingly, health) inequality is prevalent in low-income countries. The impact of population growth on health is significantly different in the two groups of countries. For life expectancy, infant mortality and under-5 mortality for high-income countries, it has a negative impact, while for survival to age 65 for low-income countries, it has a positive effect. Moreover, in high-income countries, the ratio of the female population is associated with infant and under-5 mortality, and in low-income countries, it has a significant impact on overall health. CO₂ emissions is statistically significant in high-income countries, but not in low-income countries. With respect to the other explanatory variables, there seem to be no significant differences between the two groups of countries.



Variables	Life exp	ectancy	Infant n	nortality	Under-5	mortality	Female sur	vival to 65	Male surv	ival to 65
	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS
Log of GDP per capita	3.091^{***}	2.146***	-4.240***	-3.753***	-5.346***	-4.438***	3.261***	2.411***	6.781***	4.720***
	(0.676)	(0.346)	(1.355)	(0.667)	(1.569)	(0.766)	(0.813)	(0.366)	(1.555)	(0.796)
Gini index	-0.034	-0.025	-0.027	0.002	-0.067	-0.030	-0.075	-0.013	-0.161*	-0.043
	(0.028)	(0.035)	(0.111)	(0.121)	(0.148)	(0.149)	(0.049)	(0.039)	(0.082)	(0.082)
Population growth	-0.411***	-0.313***	0.849***	0.636**	1.103***	0.800**	-0.213*	-0.061	-0.403**	-0.085
	(0.094)	(0.071)	(0.299)	(0.241)	(0.381)	(0.307)	(0.111)	(0.097)	(0.180)	(0.178)
Population density	0.020^{**}	0.021***	-0.021	-0.023	0.029	-0.030	0.010	0.009	-0.004	-0.002
	(6000)	(0.007)	(0.017)	(0.014)	(0.021)	(0.018)	(0.010)	(0.007)	(0.019)	(0.015)
Ratio of female	-0.134	-0.166	-1.138	-1.065*	-1.498*	-1.414**	0.080	0.212	-1.380	-0.720
	(0.458)	(0.477)	(0.710)	(0.579)	(0.880)	(0.701)	(0.450)	(0.375)	(0.856)	(0.820)
Hospital beds	-0.122	-0.282***	-0.363	-0.321	-0.475	-0.404	-0.018	-0.189**	-0.283	-0.800***
	(0.112)	(0.100)	(0.244)	(0.268)	(0.322)	(0.351)	(0.107)	(0.098)	(0.288)	(0.261)
Nurses and midwives	0.036	-0.023	-0.067*	-0.023	-0.073*	0.026	0.026	-0.042**	0.033	-0.108***
	(0.023)	(0.024)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.042)	(0.043)	(0.019)	(0.019)	(0.037)	(0.037)
Log of CO ₂ emissions	-2.299***	-1.254***	-4.612***	-4.742***	-5.794***	-5.860***	-0.380	0.229	-3.655***	-1.817**
	(0.488)	(0.415)	(1.255)	(1.143)	(1.668)	(1.445)	(0.546)	(0.407)	(1.000)	(0.691)
School enrollment	-0.001	-0.019	0.014	0.003	0.016	0.005	0.004	-0.005	0.014	0.000
	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.037)	(0.039)	(0.044)	(0.045)	(0.021)	(0.014)	(0.039)	(0.029)
Log of general government final	0.097	0.618**	-1.868	-1.994***	-2.275	-2.623***	-0.173	0.491	-1.126	0.366

Table 12 FE-2SLS regression results of high-income countries

	(0.568)	68.800	(43.785)	302	0.7467	
	(1.435)	121.184^{**}	(52.477)	334	0.5827	
	(0.320)	42.948**	(20.635)	302	0.6024	
	(0.748)	58.064**	(27.375)	334	0.5179	0
	(0.799)	203.774***	(38.710)	302	0.4721	significance
	(1.853)	209.617***	(62.401)	334	0.4307	% levels of
	(0.671)	158.818***	(31.466)	302	0.4805	ficance; *1(
	(1.549)	164.365***	(49.905)	334	0.4890	vels of signi
	(0.292)	53.660**	(25.574)	302	0.4247	ce; **5% le
	(0.640)	54.596**	(25.182)	334	0.4368	f significan
consumption		Constant		Number of observations	R2	Notes: ***1% levels c



Variables	Life exp	ectancy	Infant m	ortality	Under-5 n	nortality	Female sur	vival to 65	Male survi	val to 65
	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS	FE	2SLS
Log of GDP per capita	-0.226	0.758***	2.946	0.834	6.741^{**}	1.215	-2.176***	0.402	-1.776	1.671^{**}
	(0.478)	(0.198)	(1.817)	(1.771)	(2.958)	(2.386)	(0.702)	(0.514)	(1.803)	(0.708)
Gini index	-0.022	-0.074	-0.167	0.524^{**}	-0.336*	0.759**	-0.010	-0.119*	-0.144	-0.097
	(0.038)	(0.050)	(0.107)	(0.223)	(0.185)	(0.340)	(0.038)	(0.061)	(0.109)	(660.0)
Population growth	0.949^{***}	0.420	-0.535	-0.117	1.196	1.065	2.286***	2.034***	5.883***	4.078***
	(0.330)	(0.384)	(1.929)	(2.522)	(3.189)	(3.634)	(0.315)	(0.634)	(1.511)	(1.098)
Population density	-0.009	0.003	-0.053	-0.148*	-0.020	-0.216*	-0.024	0.016	0.000	0.005
	(600.0)	(0.013)	(0.063)	(0.076)	(10.0)	(0.110)	(0.019)	(0.024)	(0.028)	(0.046)
Ratio of female	2.163^{**}	2.740*	-19.723**	-14.240*	-26.642**	-18.369*	5.241**	5.659*	1.782	7.406*
	(0.951)	(1.333)	(7.925)	(6.872)	(11.338)	(9.593)	(2.483)	(2.822)	(2.261)	(4.021)
Hospital beds	0.003	-0.101	2.313	1.941*	3.127	2.465*	-0.426*	-0.571	0.516	-0.437
	(0.222)	(0.185)	(1.559)	(0.995)	(2.287)	(1.251)	(0.217)	(0.414)	(0.572)	(0.702)
Nurses and midwives	-0.086	-0.007	-0.518	0.540	-0.590	0.875	-0.037	0.093	-0.062	0.243
	(0.183)	(0.070)	(1.242)	(0.579)	(1.703)	(0.817)	(0.406)	(0.137)	(0.377)	(0.333)
Log of CO ₂ emissions	-1.405*	-0.480	-1.585	-3.390	-1.295	-4.939	-1.354	-0.341	-6.072*	-2.852
	(0.779)	(0.768)	(3.003)	(2.818)	(4.611)	(3.930)	(0.966)	(1.232)	(3.223)	(3.262)
School enrollment	-0.021	-0.014	0.020	-0.093	0.006	-0.139	-0.008	-0.007	-0.049	-0.002
	(0.031)	(0.026)	(0.119)	(0.143)	(0.190)	(0.212)	(0.034)	(0.037)	(0.076)	(0.065)
Log of general government final consumption	2.584***	1.115^{**}	-9.477***	-2.582	-16.868***	-2.994	5.218***	1.497*	5.688***	1.771
	(0.247)	(0.453)	(1.389)	(1.572)	(2.452)	(2.243)	(0.428)	(0.757)	(0.806)	(2.011)

Table 13 FE-2SLS regression results of low-income countries

-283.478 -244.116 -136.426 -364.557*	(123.552) (143.944) (110.950) (209.686)	55 51 55 51	0.0140 0.0229 0.0007 0.1311	
1029.026^{**}	(488.983)	51	0.1591	significance.
1709.936***	(564.282)	55	0.1553	0% levels of
804.280**	(350.341)	51	0.2172	ificance; *1
1219.466***	(396.393)	55	0.1820	evels of signi
-96.528	(68.990)	51	0.0247	e; **5% le
-91.758**	(47.549)	55	0.0001	significance
Constant		Number of observations	R2	Notes: ***1% levels of:



Chapter 6 Discussion

This paper investigates whether economic development has a causal effect on health, using panel of 217 economies for the period 1995–2018. It uses life expectancy at birth, infant mortality, under-5 mortality, male and female survival to age 65 as proxies for population health. It uses a fixed effects estimation method and solves for endogeneity using a two-stage least squares (2SLS) approach. Through different model specifications and econometric procedures, GDP per capita is found to have a consistently positive and statistically significant effect on health. Evidence for the impact of Gini index on health is weak. There are also other factors that contribute to aggregate-level health. Population growth and the ratio of the female population have an impact on life expectancy, infant mortality and under-5 mortality. The results also demonstrate health consequences of climate change; CO_2 emissions has a generally negative effect on most health outcomes in this study.

The fact that GDP per capita has a positive impact on health is consistent with previous studies. (Amartya Sen, 2001) concluded that the rate of decline of mortality in England and Wales has historically been inversely correlated with economic growth, and that decades of strong growth have been related to decline in life expectancy. The results of this study also show that the relationship between inequality and health, albeit weak in general, is stronger in low-income countries, compared to high-income countries. This is consistent with (Karlsson et al., 2010). CO₂ emission has a negative impact on life expectancy and survival to age 65 in high-income countries, consistent with (Drabo, 2011). This supports the view that environmental quality is an important channel through which income inequality affects population health. These results apply to air pollution indicators (CO₂ and SO₂) and water-pollution indicators (BOD). For rich and poor countries, this finding is also powerful.

This study shows that, while the effect of GDP on health is evident, policymakers should not focus solely on GDP as a potential booster of population health, as other factors remain important. More specifically, income inequality negatively impacts health, especially in low-income countries. It is important for countries with high income inequalities to consider implementing redistributive policies not only to improve the quality of life of the population in general but also to circumvent their negative impact on health. Attention should also be paid to health of the female population. This study shows that an increase in the ratio of the female population can improve health overall and this is especially true of infant and under-5 mortality, which is unsurprising given that children's health is determined importantly by maternal inputs. In addition, environmental issues remain a matter of high concern, especially in high-income countries, where CO₂ emissions have a negative impact on health. It is important for policymakers to strike the right balance between the environment and economic development.

This paper has some limitations. First, some developing economies do not have access to comprehensive macroeconomic data for 1995-2018, which mean the data used in this study may be completely globally representative. Second, the choice of instrumental variables (IVs) in the data is limited. Although many studies in the literature have similarly used lag values of endogenous variables as IVs, the IVs used here may not be sufficiently credible as they can also be considered endogenous in a dynamic setting. Third, while we use several health variables, including life expectancy at birth; infant mortality; under-5 mortality; female survival to age 65 and male survival to age 65 to capture the multi-dimensionality of health, they still might not be enough. For example, the life expectancy of a country may be high, but most of its population may suffer from disease and may not be productive. A better measure may be Health Adjusted Life Expectancy (HALE), which can calculate the healthy years of life that from a child born. However, data related to HALE or other population health indicators, such as adult mortality (AMR) or child mortality (USMR), are only available in a relatively short period of time.

Nevertheless, this study makes several contributions. In view of these circumstances where data are imperfect, the study uses these five variables as proxy for health, avoiding the deviation caused by a single factor and can obtain long-term data. In addition, the use of panel data is an important feature of this study, leading to more robust evidence. Moreover, the effects of economic development on health can be seen through comparisons of countries with different income levels, so that the impacts of high-income and low-income countries can be compared.



APPENDIX

Table A.1 FE results of life expectancy at birth as dependent variable

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of GDP per capita	3.300***	3.121***	2.354***	2.712***
	(0.226)	(0.218)	(0.183)	(0.665)
Gini index	-0.053*	-0.048	-0.042	-0.039
	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.026)	(0.025)
Population growth		-0.266*	-0.416***	-0.316***
		(0.151)	(0.127)	(0.102)
Population density		0.023***	0.022**	0.011
		(0.008)	(0.010)	(0.002)
Ratio of Female	Linna	0.186	0.184	0.024
		(0.457)	(0.665)	(0.454)
Hospital beds			-0.443***	-0.187*
			(0.105)	(0.111)
Nurses and midwives	-///37		0.071*	0.031
			(0.038)	(0.023)
Log of CO ₂ emissions				-2.289***
	STreeses	- <u>-</u>		(0.448)
School enrollment	A State	Charles C	h	-0.009
	E.	R.	1	(0.013)
Log of general				
government final				
consumption				0.384
			SITY	(0.620)
Constant	46.065***	35.489	44.559	45.198**
	(2.634)	(23.61)	(33.822)	(24.026)
Number of obs	1441	1401	420	389
R2	0.6819	0.5095	0.4139	0.5347

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of GDP per capita	-10.418***	-9.752***	-7.071***	-2.352
	(0.937)	(0.956)	(0.957)	(1.728)
Gini index	0.252*	0.231*	0.111	0.015
	(0.143)	(0.139)	(0.133)	(0.103)
Population growth		0.730	0.689*	0.606*
		(0.806)	(0.394)	(0.355)
Population density		-0.093***	-0.035	-0.018
		(0.030)	(0.035)	(0.031)
Ratio of Female		-2.304	-2.314*	-2.740**
		(1.582)	(1.269)	(1.115)
Hospital beds			-0.519	-0.216
	Latter Class		(0.322)	(0.280)
Nurses and midwives			-0.087	-0.052
			(0.076)	(0.035)
$Log \ of \ CO_2 \ emissions$				-4.753***
				(1.285)
School enrollment				-0.031
	1			(0.053)
Log of general	- Minada	A LOUGH AND A L		
government final	0	Vareer (D)		
consumption	E.	10		-3.711**
				(1.710)
Constant	100.866***	223.408***	198.754***	274.586***
	(11.264)	(83.517)	(66.407)	(71.133)
Number of obs G	1430 LONGK	01401 UNIVERS	420	389
R2	0.6108	0.3766	0.5268	0.5167

Table A.2 FE results of infant mortality as dependent variable

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of GDP per capita	-14.929***	-13.732***	-9.004***	-2.437
	(1.609)	(1.595)	(1.247)	(2.270)
Gini index	0.376	0.338	0.095	-0.025
	(0.259)	(0.256)	(0.168)	(0.134)
Population growth		1.402	0.920*	0.823*
		(1.334)	(0.521)	(0.459)
Population density		-0.164***	-0.054	-0.031
		(0.055)	(0.051)	(0.044)
Ratio of Female		-3.724	-3.166*	-3.829**
		(2.906)	(1.666)	(1.530)
Hospital beds			-0.694*	-0.322
	Internation		(0.406)	(0.368)
Nurses and midwives			-0.086	-0.049
			(0.090)	(0.043)
Log of CO ₂ emissions				-6.266***
-	-///37			(1.712)
School enrollment				-0.058
				(0.073)
Log of general	N STREET	ette 2000000 ()		× ,
government final	Q ELL	NAME R	ħ	
consumption	S.	J.S.	1	-5.247**
				(2.279)
Constant	142.025***	340.562**	266.500***	378.440***
	(20.030)	(153.658)	(88.610)	(100.220)
Number of obs	1430_ONGK	0 1401 NIVER	420	389
R2	0.5340	0.2825	0.4415	0.4491

Table A.3 FE results of under-5 mortality as dependent variable

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of GDP per capita	4.503***	4.169***	2.869***	2.394***
	(0.345)	(0.332)	(0.283)	(0.888)
Gini index	-0.079	-0.062	-0.104**	-0.091*
	(0.048)	(0.048)	(0.044)	(0.047)
Population growth		0.182	-0.095	-0.042
		(0.203)	(0.136)	(0.147)
Population density		0.035***	0.008	0.000
		(0.012)	(0.011)	(0.010)
Ratio of Female		0.387	0.532	0.605
	Wie -	(0.619)	(0.510)	(0.523)
Hospital beds			-0.207*	-0.107
	Latanan		(0.111)	(0.123)
Nurses and midwives			0.041	0.019
			(0.027)	(0.019)
Log of CO ₂ emissions				-0.280
-	-///3			(0.608)
School enrollment				0.014
				(0.020)
Log of general	Streeter.	V 012222		
government final	A CALL	And the Contraction of the Contr		
consumption	E.	A.		0.653
				(0.783)
Constant	45.508***	24.044	35.613	20.336
	(4.178)	(32.493)	(25.823)	(30.153)
Number of obs GR	1429_ONGKO	P1401 NIVERS	420	389
R2	0.6008	0.4115	0.5691	0.5649

Table A.4 FE results of female survival to age 65 as dependent variable

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of GDP per capita	5.429***	5.204***	4.157***	5.767***
	(0.407)	(0.420)	(0.379)	(1.512)
Gini index	-0.088*	-0.084*	-0.185***	-0.191**
	(0.047)	(0.048)	(0.067)	(0.077)
Population growth		-0.097	-0.300	-0.188
		(0.205)	(0.251)	(0.220)
Population density		0.027**	-0.005	-0.019
		(0.013)	(0.020)	(0.016)
Ratio of Female		0.083	-0.797	-1.040
		(0.680)	(1.132)	(0.371)
Hospital beds			-0.887***	-0.382
-	Internet	4	(0.251)	(0.292)
Nurses and midwives			0.064	0.021
			(0.050)	(0.037)
Log of CO ₂ emissions				-3.959***
C	-///3			(1.017)
School enrollment	1/100		0	0.004
				(0.032)
Log of general	ST Read			` ,
government final	C LE			
consumption	S.		E)	-0.290
				(1.355)
Constant	26.877***	21.481	87.769	97.679**
	(4.516)	(35.236)	(57.668)	(47.625)
Number of obs	1429_0\GK	C1401 UNIVE	420	389
R2	0.5876	0.5422	0.6283	0.3550

Table A.5 FE results of male survival to age 65 as dependent variable

REFERENCES

- Adda, J., Banks, J., & Von Gaudecker, H.-M. (2009). The impact of income shocks on health: evidence from cohort data. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 7(6), 1361-1399.
- Aida, J., Kondo, K., Kondo, N., Watt, R. G., Sheiham, A., Tsakos, G., & medicine. (2011). Income inequality, social capital and self-rated health and dental status in older Japanese. *Social science medicine*, 73(10), 1561-1568.
- Babones, S. J., & medicine. (2008). Income inequality and population health: correlation and causality. *Social science*, *66*(7), 1614-1626.
- Barro, R. (1996). Health and economic growth. World Health Organization.
- Barro, R. (2013). Health and economic growth. Annals of economics
- finance, 14(2), 329-366.
- Bhargava, A., Jamison, D. T., Lau, L. J., & Murray, C. J. (2001). Modeling the effects of health on economic growth. *Journal of health economics*, 20(3), 423-440.
- Blackburn, K., & Cipriani, G. P. (2002). A model of longevity, fertility and growth. *Journal of Economic Dynamics*
- Control, 26(2), 187-204.
- Case, A., Lubotsky, D., & Paxson, C. (2002). Economic status and health in childhood: The origins of the gradient. *American Economic Review*, 92(5), 1308-1334.
- Caselli, F., Esquivel, G., & Lefort, F. (1996). Reopening the convergence debate: a new look at cross-country growth empirics. *Journal of economic growth*, 1(3), 363-389.
- Chakraborty, S. (2004). Endogenous lifetime and economic growth. *Journal of Economic Theory*, *116*(1), 119-137.
- Chunyan, T. (2013). The influence of coping style and objective factors on life satisfaction of college students with gender imbalance. *Social psychological science*(7), 101-104.
- Cokley, K., Komarraju, M., Rosales, R., Shen, F., Picket, R., & Patel, N. (2006). A new scale for assessing the quality of student-professor interactions. *Journal of the Professoriate, 2*, 53-67.
- Cutler, D., Deaton, A., & Lleras-Muney, A. (2006). The determinants of mortality. 20(3), 97-120.
- Deaton, A. (2002). Policy implications of the gradient of health and wealth. *Health* affairs, 21(2), 13-30.
- Dorling, D., Mitchell, R., & Pearce, J. (2007). The global impact of income inequality on health by age: an observational study. *335*(7625), 873.
- Drabo, A. (2011). Impact of income inequality on health: does environment quality matter? *Environment Planning A*, *43*(1), 146-165.
- Easterlin, R. A. (1999). How beneficent is the market? A look at the modern history of

mortality. European Review of Economic History, 3(3), 257-294.

- Ehrlich, I., & Lui, F. T. (1991). Intergenerational trade, longevity, and economic growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, 99(5), 1029-1059.
- Finlay, J. (2007). The role of health in economic development. *Program on the Global Demography of Aging*. *Cambridge: Harvard Initiative for Global Health.*
- Fogel, R. W. (1994). *Economic growth, population theory, and physiology: the bearing of long-term processes on the making of economic policy* (0898-2937). Retrieved from
- Frijters, P., Haisken-DeNew, J. P., & Shields, M. A. (2005). The causal effect of income on health: Evidence from German reunification. *Journal of health economics*, 24(5), 997-1017.
- Fritzell, J., Nermo, M., & Lundberg, O. (2004). The impact of income: assessing the relationship between income and health in Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of public health*, 32(1), 6-16.
- Glover, S. H., Xirasagar, S., Jeon, Y., Elder, K. T., Piper, C. N., Pastides, H., & practice. (2009). A Human Capital Approach to Reduce Health Disparities. *Journal of health disparities research*, 3(1), 1.
- Granados, J. A. T., & Ionides, E. L. (2008). The reversal of the relation between economic growth and health progress: Sweden in the 19th and 20th centuries. *Journal of health economics*, 27(3), 544-563.
- Greenwood, D. T., & Holt, R. P. (2010). Growth, inequality and negative trickle down. Journal of Economic Issues, 44(2), 403-410.
- Grossman, M. (1972). On the concept of health capital and the demand for health. *Journal of Political Economy*, 80(2), 223-255.
- Gyimah-Brempong, K., & Wilson, M. (2004). Health human capital and economic growth in Sub-Saharan African and OECD countries. *The Quarterly Review of Economics*
- Finance, 44(2), 296-320.
- Hu Hongwei, L. Y. (2011). A Study on the Self-rated health status of the elderly in China and its influencing Factors -- Based on the ordered Probit model. *journal* of shanxi finance and economics university, 33, 1-8.
- Islam, N. (1995). Growth empirics: a panel data approach. *The quarterly journal of* economics, 110(4), 1127-1170.
- Jürges, H., Reinhold, S., & Salm, M. (2011). Does schooling affect health behavior? Evidence from the educational expansion in Western Germany. *Economics of Education Review*, 30(5), 862-872.
- Kai, L. (2006). Healthy Human Capital and Economic growth: evidence by province in China. *Economic science*(4), 83-93.
- Kalemli-Ozcan, S., Ryder, H. E., & Weil, D. N. (2000). Mortality decline, human capital investment, and economic growth. *Journal of development economics*, 62(1), 1-23.

- Karlsson, M., Nilsson, T., Lyttkens, C. H., Leeson, G., & medicine. (2010). Income inequality and health: Importance of a cross-country perspective. *Social science*, 70(6), 875-885.
- Kun, H. (2011). A brief analysis of health human capital. *Enterprise leader*(4), 19-20.
- Larrimore, J. (2011). Does a higher income have positive health effects? Using the earned income tax credit to explore the income health gradient. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 89(4), 694-727.
- Lenhart, O. (2019). The effects of income on health: new evidence from the Earned Income Tax Credit. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 17(2), 377-410.
- Levine, R., Loayza, N., & Beck, T. (2000). Financial intermediation and growth: Causality and causes. *Journal of monetary Economics*, 46(1), 31-77.
- Narayan, S., Narayan, P. K., & Mishra, S. (2010). Investigating the relationship between health and economic growth: Empirical evidence from a panel of 5 Asian countries. *Journal of Asian Economics*, 21(4), 404-411.
- Renbing, S. (2002). Social Consequences of sex ratio imbalance and its Characteristics -- from an observation of the Population of Taiwan. 26(2), 57-60.
- Riley, J. C. (2001). *Rising life expectancy: a global history*: Cambridge University Press.
- Rivera IV, B., & Currais, L. (1999). Economic growth and health: direct impact or reverse causation? *Applied Economics Letters*, 6(11), 761-764.
- Sell, R. R., & Kunitz, S. J. (1986). The debt crisis and the end of an era in mortality decline. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 21(4), 3-30.
- Sen, A. (1990). Development as capability expansion. *The community development reader*, 41-58.
- Sen, A. (2001). Economic development and capability expansion in historical perspective. *Pacific Economic Review*, 6(2), 179-191.
- Sharma, R. (2018). Health and economic growth: Evidence from dynamic panel data of 143 years. *13*(10), e0204940.
- Spears, P. H. S. H. L. P. D. C. D. Place and Child Health: The Interaction of Population Density and Sanitation in Developing Countries.
- Spencer, N., & development. (2004). The effect of income inequality and macro level social policy on infant mortality and low birthweight in developed countries a preliminary systematic review. *Child: care, health, 30*(6), 699-709.
- Summers, L. H., & Pritchett, L. (1996). Wealthier is healthier. *Human Resources, 31*(4), 841-868.
- Szreter, S. (1988). The Importance of Social Intervention in Britain's Mortality Decline
 c. 1850? 1914: a Re-interpretation of the Role of Public Health. *Social history of medicine*, 1(1), 1-38.
- Szreter, S. (1999). Rapid economic growth and 'the four Ds' of disruption, deprivation, disease and death: public health lessons from nineteenth - century Britain for twenty - first - century China? *Tropical Medicine International*

Health, 4(2), 146-152.

- Szreter, S., & Mooney, G. (1998). Urbanization, mortality, and the standard of living debate: new estimates of the expectation of life at birth in nineteenth-century British cities. *Economic History Review*, 84-112.
- Valeyre, D., Albera, C., Bradford, W. Z., Costabel, U., King Jr, T. E., Leff, J. A., . . . du Bois, R. M. (2014). Comprehensive assessment of the long - term safety of pirfenidone in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. 19(5), 740-747.
- Van Doorslaer, E., Masseria, C., & Koolman, X. (2006). Inequalities in access to medical care by income in developed countries. *174*(2), 177-183.
- Van Zon, A., & Muysken, J. (2005). Health as Determinant of Economic Growth. *Health economic growth: Findings policy implications, 41.*
- Woode, M. E., Nourry, C., & Ventelou, B. (2014). Childhood preventive care, adult healthcare and economic growth: The role of healthcare financing. *Economics Letters*, *124*(1), 41-47.
- Xuewen, W. (2014). Research on the Relationship between healthy human capital investment and economic growth in China. *Journal of Lanzhou finance and Economics University*, 30(3), 104.





CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

VITA

NAME H

Huiying Wang

DATE OF BIRTH29 September 1996

*

PLACE OF BIRTH

NEI MONGOL, CHINA



Chulalongkorn University